

All Theses and Dissertations

2014-03-01

The Effect of Interval Training on Resting Blood Pressure

Camilla May Nielson Brigham Young University - Provo

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd



Part of the Exercise Science Commons

BYU ScholarsArchive Citation

Nielson, Camilla May, "The Effect of Interval Training on Resting Blood Pressure" (2014). All Theses and Dissertations. 4380. https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd/4380

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by BYU ScholarsArchive. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of BYU ScholarsArchive. For more information, please contact scholarsarchive@byu.edu, ellen amatangelo@byu.edu.

The Effect of Interval Training on Resting Blood Pressure

Camilla Nielson

A thesis submitted to the faculty of Brigham Young University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Barbara D. Lockhart, Chair Ronald L. Hager James D. George

Department of Exercise Sciences

Brigham Young University

March 2014

Copyright © 2014 Camilla Nielson

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

The Effect of Interval Training on Resting Blood Pressure

Camilla Nielson
Department of Exercise Sciences, BYU
Master of Science

Purpose: An experimental study to examine the effects of CardioWaves interval training (IT) and continuous training (CT) on resting blood pressure, resting heart rate, and mind-body wellness.

Methods: Fifty-two normotensive (blood pressure <120/80 mmHg), pre-hypertensive (120-139/80-89 mmHg), and hypertensive (>140/90 mmHg) participants were randomly assigned and equally divided between the IT and CT groups. Both groups participated in the assigned exercise protocol thirty minutes per day, four days per week for eight weeks. Resting blood pressure, resting heart rate, and mind-body wellness were measured pre- and post-intervention.

Results: A total of 47 participants (15 females and 32 males) were included in the analysis. The IT group had a non-significant trend of reduced systolic blood pressure (SBP) and increased diastolic blood pressure (DBP) while the CT group had a statistically significant decrease in awake SBP (p=0.01) and total SBP (p=0.01) and a non-significant decrease in DBP. With both groups combined, the female participants had a statistically significant decrease in awake SBP (p=0.002), asleep SBP (p=0.01), total SBP (p=0.003), awake DBP (p=0.02), and total DBP (p=0.05). The male participants had an increase in SBP and DBP with total DBP showing a statistically significant increase (p=0.05). Neither group had consistent change in resting heart rate. Both groups showed improved mind-body wellness.

Conclusion: IT and CT reduced resting blood pressure, with CT having a greater effect. Resting heart rate did not change in either group. Additionally, both IT and CT improved mind-body wellness.

Keywords: continuous training, resting heart rate, mind-body wellness

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Working toward a graduate degree has given me experiences and knowledge that I know will benefit me in the future. I am so grateful for the efforts of my professors through my coursework and the dedicated guidance of my advisor, Dr. Barbara Lockhart. Her consistent support made this thesis possible. I also appreciate the positive suggestions of my committee members, Dr. Ronald Hager and Dr. James George, as they helped this project reach its fullest potential. Additionally, I want to thank Dr. Dennis Eggett, Dr. Patrick Steffen, Dr. Ulrike Mitchell, and my undergrad research assistants for their significant contributions in the varying vital steps of the research process. I also thank the BYU Exercise Sciences Department for funding this project and other students' projects – enabling research opportunities for so many.

My parents deserve thanks for being such wonderful examples of healthful living and encouraging me in my studies of health promotion. I hope to be an example for others as well as my own children in this way. Lastly, I am forever grateful to my husband, Mark, for his love, patience, and consistent support through my graduate degree. His listening ear and countless hours of help were matchless and I cannot imagine going through this experience without him.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Title Page	i
Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Table of Contents	iv
List of Tables	v
Introduction	1
Methods	3
Research Design	3
Participants	3
Procedures	4
Statistical Analysis	6
Results	7
Resting Blood Pressure and Resting Heart Rate	7
Mind-Body Wellness Surveys	8
Discussion	9
Strengths and Limitations	10
Conclusion	12
References	13

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Participant Demographics	16
Table 2: Baseline Resting Blood Pressure (mmHg) and Resting Heart Rate (bpm)	17
Table 3: Distribution of Participants According to Baseline Resting Blood Pressure	18
Table 4: Change in Resting Blood Pressure (mmHg) by Group	19
Table 5: Change in Resting Blood Pressure (mmHg) by Gender	20
Table 6: Change in Resting Heart Rate (bpm) by Group	21
Table 7: Change in Mind-Body Wellness Surveys by Group	22

Introduction

According to the United States (U.S.) Department of Health and Human Services, the top four causes of death in the U.S. in 2011 were heart disease, malignant neoplasms (cancer), chronic lower-respiratory diseases, and cerebrovascular disease (stroke) (8). These conditions usually occur over a long period of time and may result in premature death. But there are risk factors that—if detected early and treated properly—may prevent disease from occurring. Two common risk factors for heart disease are hypertension (high blood pressure) (2) and high resting heart rate (15, 17, 19).

Lewington et al. state that reducing systolic blood pressure by 2 mmHg may lower stroke mortality by about 10% and ischemic heart disease mortality by about 7% (12). Additionally, Nauman et al. reported that over a 10-year span individuals whose resting heart rate levels increased from 70 beats per minute (bpm) to greater than 85 bpm had a 90% higher risk of death from ischemic heart disease, and a 50% higher risk of death from all causes, when compared to individuals whose resting heart-rate levels remained below 70 bpm (17). Fortunately, hypertension and high resting heart rate are modifiable through a healthy lifestyle, including regular exercise (9).

One traditionally recommended method for preventing or treating hypertension is continuous moderate-intensity training sustained for 30 minutes or more (2). When measured objectively, only about 10% of U.S. adults meet federal recommendations of at least 150 min/wk of moderate-intensity or 75 min/wk of vigorous-intensity aerobic exercise, despite the many benefits regular exercise provides (29).

Numerous studies have measured the effect of interval-training versus continuoustraining on resting blood pressure (3, 6, 10, 15, 16, 18, 24, 25, 27, 28, 30-33) and resting heart rate (6, 10, 15, 16, 18, 24, 31, 33). Some of these studies' interval-training protocols resulted in a mean decrease in systolic blood pressure of 6-11 mmHg and a mean decrease in diastolic blood pressure of 4-7 mmHg (3, 6, 10, 15, 25, 27, 28) as well as a mean decrease in resting heart rate of 3.4-9.8 bpm (10, 15, 16). Conversely, the continuous-training protocols resulted in a mean decrease in systolic blood pressure of 6-8 mmHg and a mean decrease in diastolic blood pressure of 4-5 mmHg (3, 6, 10, 18, 25, 27) and a mean decrease in resting heart rate of 6.0-9.8 bpm (10, 18). The interval-training protocol in each study varied, but most contained at least one minute or more of steady-state exercise (heart rate sustained at the same intensity) in each exercise interval (3, 6, 15, 16, 18, 24, 25, 27, 28, 30, 31, 33).

CardioWaves interval-training is an interval training protocol in which heart rate is continually elevated or lowered during the entire workout in a wavelike pattern (13). Each exercise interval has a desired upper heart-rate target and each recovery interval has a desired heart-rate personal-recovery range. Wearing a heart-rate monitor is preferred so heart rate can be measured throughout the exercise and recovery intervals.

To lower heart rate in the recovery intervals, both physical and mental relaxation are used (13). Recent efforts have been made to include both the physical body and the mind in defining overall health. This is known as mind-body medicine (5) or mind-body wellness (13). For example, "a 'well' person is satisfied in work, is spiritually fulfilled, enjoys leisure time, is physically fit, is socially involved, and has a positive emotional-mental outlook" (4). Intervaltraining studies have shown an improved quality of life, as measured by self-report questionnaires (15, 33), with one of the studies specifically showing an additional improvement in social function (15). All elements of wellness (emotional, mental, physical, social, and spiritual) affect one another; therefore, exercise influences all parts of one's being. The

CardioWaves interval-training method is designed to improve one's mind-body wellness through being mindful of what the body is doing during the exercise and recovery intervals (13).

Increased mindfulness may increase the ability to relax, increase positive feelings, and reduce anxiety (13).

Studies have reported the effects of interval training on resting blood pressure and resting heart rate, but fewer studies have also considered the effects on mind-body wellness. To date, no published studies have tested CardioWaves interval training. Thus, the main purpose of this study was to examine the effects of interval training on resting blood pressure, resting heart rate, and mind-body wellness—specifically, to determine if these will improve.

Methods

Research Design

This experimental study considered the effects of exercise training on resting blood pressure, resting heart rate, and mind-body wellness. The participants were randomized into two groups: an interval-training (IT) group and a continuous-training (CT) group.

Participants

A power analysis (with α of 0.05, β of 0.2, and standard deviation of 12 for blood pressure) was calculated to detect a change in blood pressure of 10 mmHg between the IT group and the CT group. The power-analysis indicated 23 participants per group would be needed to provide adequate statistical power. To accommodate a potential drop-out rate of 10%, a total of 26 participants per group were recruited.

Participants included males and females who currently had normotensive (<120/80 mmHg), pre-hypertensive (120-139/80-89 mmHg), and hypertensive (>140/90 mmHg) blood pressure levels and were not taking blood pressure altering medications. Participants were

excluded for the following: currently smoking, having a BMI greater than 40, or consuming alcohol and excessive amounts of caffeine (>400 mg/d) (1). Individuals were also excluded if they currently participated in intense regular physical activity, defined as a "high" current physical-fitness-activity level (300+ min/wk of moderate-intensity or 150+ min of vigorous-intensity aerobic exercise) (22).

Participant recruitment occurred on the university campus, at local hospitals and physician clinics, on social media, and through referrals. Medical clearance was required for participation in this study and included a record of each participant's blood pressure, BMI, and current physical-fitness-activity level. Participants were also required to sign a consent form. Approval of the study protocol was obtained through the university Institutional Review Board prior to data collection.

Procedures

Fifty-two participants were randomly assigned to the IT group or CT group through a stratified random sample to ensure that baseline resting-blood-pressure levels were equally distributed between the groups.

All participants received instruction on their assigned exercise protocol. The IT group participated in the IT protocol for 30 minutes per day, four days per week for eight weeks. The protocol consisted of continuously elevating and lowering heart rate through the exercise and recovery intervals. Each exercise interval had a desired upper heart-rate target. Immediately after reaching the target, heart rate was actively lowered to the lowest pulse rate the participant could attain and within the recovery range (sitting pulse rate plus 20). As soon as the recovery pulse was reached, heart rate was again elevated for the next exercise interval. Depending on fitness level, the exercise intervals' heart-rate targets varied in intensity, with the usual calculation of

220 minus age used as the maximum heart-rate limit. The IT participants started with the beginner workout (13) and gradually increased their intensity throughout the eight-week intervention.

The CT group followed the current ACSM exercise guidelines for those with hypertension (20) by participating in moderate-intensity (40-<60% of VO₂ reserve (20) or HR reserve (26)) steady-state exercise for 30 minutes per day, four days per week for eight weeks. All participants wore a RS300X Polar heart-rate monitor (Polar Electro Oy, Professorintie 5, FI-90440 Kempele, Finland) during each exercise session to record each workout. Both the IT and CT groups were asked to not alter any lifestyle behavior other than physical activity during the eight-week intervention.

Resting blood pressure, resting heart rate, and body mass were measured pre- and post-intervention. To avoid the acute lowering effect of blood pressure post-exercise (32), each participant abstained from exercise 24 hours (h) prior to placement of an Accutracker II ambulatory blood pressure device (ABPD) (SunTech Medical, Inc., Morrisville, North Carolina). The ABPD was worn for 24 h and took blood-pressure and heart-rate measurements three times per h (about every 20 min) from 6:00 AM until 11:00 PM (awake time period) and once per h from 11:00 PM until 6:00 AM the following day (asleep time period). Throughout the 24 h, if an error occurred, the ABPD repeated the measurement.

Mind-body wellness was measured pre- and post-intervention via the following self-reported validated online questionnaires: Brief Inventory of Perceived Stress (Stress) (11), The Functional Assessment of Chronic-Illness Therapy—Spiritual Well-Being Scale (Spiritual Wellbeing) (Cronbach's a=.81-.88) (21), and Worth Index (r=.86, p<.001; test retest reliability r=.74, p<.001) (14). These questionnaires were chosen to measure the participants' stress, spiritual

well-being, and perception of self-worth as these are components of mind-body wellness. A decrease in total points on the Stress survey indicates a decrease in overall stress while an increase in points on the Spiritual Well-being survey means an increase in spiritual well-being. The Worth Index survey has four subscales: 1) basic human worth, 2) personal security, 3) performance, and 4) appearance. An increase in total points means an improvement in one's perception of his/her individual worth—the individual perceives self-worth to be inherent rather than dependent on outside influences. These questionnaires were administered using Qualtrics online survey software (Qualtrics, Provo, Utah), included a total of 58 questions, and required 5-15 minutes to complete. Participants answered additional demographic, lifestyle, and satisfaction questions for descriptive purposes.

Every two weeks throughout the intervention, a research assistant met with the participant to electronically download the workout data from the heart-rate monitor. The research assistant reviewed the participant's workouts to verify if the participant was performing the assigned exercise protocol correctly and instructed the participant on any necessary changes.

The participants received a FT1 Polar heart-rate monitor as compensation for completing the study and to provide motivation to comply with the exercise protocol.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical Analysis Software (SAS), version 9.3 (Cary, North Carolina) was used for data analysis. The ABPD resting blood pressure and heart-rate data, and the mind-body wellness surveys were analyzed using analysis of covariance. The ABPD data was also analyzed using regression analysis. Participant demographics were analyzed using basic statistics and chi-square analysis. Statistical significance was set at p<0.05.

Results

The majority of the participants were Caucasian (97%), married (88%), and working parttime or full-time (73%). Table 1 shows additional participant demographics. The participants'
body mass, and consequently BMI, did not change significantly from the beginning to the end of
the study. At the beginning of the study, the participants' baseline resting blood pressure and
heart rate were not significantly different from one another (see Table 2). About half of the
participants had resting blood pressure in pre-hypertensive or hypertensive ranges and the other
half of the participants were in normotensive ranges (see Table 3).

The participants were asked to complete a total of 32 workouts over the eight week study. All participants completed an average of 27±6.33 workouts, with 64% of both the IT group and the CT group completing more than 27 workouts. Five participants dropped out of the study—one participant from the IT group and four participants from the CT group. Therefore, a total of 47 participants (15 females and 32 males) were included in the analysis.

To better control for confounding variables, the participants were asked to not change any lifestyle habits except the assigned exercise protocol. At the beginning and end of the study, the participants were asked general questions about their current lifestyle habits. There was not a significant difference in the answers to these questions except for the participants' exercise habits, which infers the participants complied with the requirements of the study.

Resting Blood Pressure and Resting Heart Rate

The ABPD data output gave an average measurement for resting systolic blood pressure (SBP), diastolic blood pressure (DBP), and heart rate (HR) for the awake, asleep, and total period the ABPD was worn. The covariates age, gender, BMI, and workout compliance (number of completed workouts) were used in the analysis to see if any of the variables had an impact on

resting blood pressure or HR levels. After the initial analysis, group (IT or CT) was also included as a covariate to determine any within and between group differences.

Table 4 shows the change in resting blood pressure by group. The CT group had a statistically significant decrease in awake SBP (p=0.01) and total SBP (p=0.01). Gender was a covariate that was statistically significant for all blood pressure measures, except asleep DBP (p=0.09). Table 5 shows the change in resting blood pressure by gender. With both groups combined, the female participants had a statistically significant decrease in awake SBP (p=0.002), asleep SBP (p=0.01), total SBP (p=0.003), awake DBP (p=0.02), and total DBP (p=0.05). The male participants had an increasing trend of blood pressure with total DBP having a statistically significant increase (p=0.05).

Table 6 shows the change in resting HR. Neither group had a consistent trend in change or statistical significance for all HR measurements.

Mind-Body Wellness Surveys

A total of 10 post-intervention surveys were not completed—five from the participants who dropped out and five from participants that had missing post-intervention survey data.

Therefore, a total of 42 pre- and post-intervention survey results were included in the analysis.

Table 7 shows the change in the results of the mind-body wellness surveys. Both groups had positive improvement for all surveys. The IT group had a statistically significant reduction in stress (p=0.002) and the CT group had a statistically significant increase in spiritual well-being (p=0.005). The IT group had statistically significant improvement with their perceptions of their personal security (p=0.03) as related to their individual self-worth. Additionally, the CT group had statistically significant improvement with their perceptions of their performance (p=0.003) and perceptions of their appearance (p=0.01).

Discussion

This study examined the effects of IT and CT on resting blood pressure, resting HR, and mind-body wellness. The data resulted in a trend of reduced SBP for both IT and CT, but CT lowered SBP significantly more than IT. No consistent change in HR was found in either group, but mind-body wellness improved for both IT and CT. These results further add to the literature of other interval training protocols compared to CT.

Research comparing various interval-training protocols with CT has found conflicting blood pressure results. Many have found interval training and CT equally effective at decreasing blood pressure (mean SBP/DBP decrease of 6/4 and median SBP/DBP decrease of 2/4 mmHg) (3, 6, 10, 25, 27) or both exercise protocols showing no change in blood pressure (16, 24, 30, 31, 33). Nybo et al., however, found CT lowered blood pressure more than interval training with a SBP/DBP mean decrease of 8/5 mmHg (18). This current study's results are similar in that CT lowered blood pressure more than IT, but with a SBP/DBP decrease of about 4/2 mmHg. Having a larger number of participants with blood pressure in pre-hypertensive or hypertensive ranges could possibly show a larger reduction in resting blood-pressure levels with CT or IT. The literature shows that when normotensive and hypertensive participants follow the same exercise program, blood-pressure reduction is greatest in the hypertensive participants (20).

With both groups combined, the female participants had a significant reduction in blood pressure while the male participants' blood pressure increased. Many interval training studies have included both female and male participants, but did not report the gender difference in the blood pressure results (6, 15, 16, 24, 25, 27, 28, 30, 33). Nybo et al. (18) and Whyte et al. (32) included only male participants in their interval training studies and saw a 8/5 mmHg reduction and 2/7 mmHg reduction in blood pressure, respectively. On the other hand, Ciolac et al.

included only female participants and found only a 2/2 mmHg reduction in blood pressure (3). This present study's findings of the female participants reducing blood pressure more than the male participants adds to the inconsistencies in the literature, which suggests a need for further investigation into gender differences with IT and CT.

Resting HR levels did not change in either the IT or CT groups. Other studies results were similar, indicating no change in resting HR (24, 31, 33). However, some research found interval training to be more effective than CT (mean decrease of 3.4 bpm) (15, 16) while others found CT more effective than interval training (mean decrease of 6.0 bpm) (18). All participants in this study had baseline resting HR levels that were normal. If the participants had higher baseline resting heart-rate levels, training effects for lowering HR may have been noted.

Both groups' mind-body wellness survey results showed positive improvement. The CT group had a statistically significant increase in spiritual well-being while the IT group had a statistically significant reduction in stress. A unique component of IT is lowering the heart rate to the lowest attainable point during the recovery interval. This is meditative in nature because of the need for the mind to clear itself from any stress to lower the heart rate (13). One study found interval training improved quality of life more than CT (33) whereas another found both interval training and CT equally improved quality of life (15), which is consistent with this study. Further research is needed to clarify the effect of IT and CT on stress, spiritual well-being, and one's perceptions of self-worth.

Strengths and Limitations

There were notable strengths regarding this study, including the unique design. The study was a randomized controlled experimental study, which allows for possible inference to a similar population of that used in the study. The recovery interval of IT and the moderate-intensity of

CT made it possible for almost anyone to participate independent of their current fitness level or age. ABPDs were used to measure resting blood-pressure levels, which gave a complete accounting of blood-pressure fluctuations over a long period of time, from which a more representative blood-pressure mean was calculated. This was advantageous because one-time clinical assessment is subject to variation due to situation-specific influences on blood pressure (7). The ability to monitor blood pressure over 24 h accounted for possible outside influences that could have artificially altered blood-pressure outcomes.

There were also limitations of this study. Because the questionnaires used in this study were self-reported, there was limited control over the accuracy of individual's responses. Also, the participants completed their exercise protocol under free-living conditions; therefore the researchers had very little—if any—control over other confounding factors that may have influenced the study outcome. One hope for this study was to recruit mostly participants with baseline pre-hypertensive blood-pressure levels to increase potential for determining a bloodpressure lowering effect for the different training protocols. The medical clearance form was used to verify baseline blood-pressure levels and other inclusion criteria required to accept each participant into the study. Because this baseline blood-pressure measurement was taken by a medical professional at one point in time (either with a manual or automatic blood-pressure cuff) some of the participants' resting pre-ABPD measurements did not match up with their reported baseline levels, meaning there were more participants with lower true baseline blood-pressure levels than was hoped for. This finding is in accordance with Pickering et al. who state ABPD measurements are typically lower than clinical blood-pressure measurements (23). For future studies, using ABPD measurement as part of the screening process of potential participants will ensure participants' baseline blood pressure is within pre-hypertensive or hypertensive ranges.

Conclusion

In conclusion, this study revealed that IT and CT exercise programs reduced resting blood pressure, with CT having a greater effect. Additionally, both IT and CT improved mind-body wellness. Further research is warranted to investigate resting heart-rate effects, gender differences, and mind-body wellness differences between IT and CT.

References

- 1. Arya LA, Myers DL, Jackson ND. Dietary caffeine intake and the risk for detrusor instability: a case-control study. Obstet Gynecol 96(1): 85-9, 2000.
- 2. Ciolac EG. High-intensity interval training and hypertension: maximizing the benefits of exercise? Am J Cardiovasc Dis 2(2): 102-10, 2012.
- 3. Ciolac EG, Bocchi EA, Bortolotto LA, Carvalho VO, Greve JM, Guimaraes GV. Effects of high-intensity aerobic interval training vs. moderate exercise on hemodynamic, metabolic and neuro-humoral abnormalities of young normotensive women at high familial risk for hypertension. Hypertens Res 33(8): 836-43, 2010.
- 4. Corbin CB, Welk GJ, Corbin WR, Welk KA. *Concepts of Physical Fitness: Active Lifestyle for Wellness*. 13th ed. New York: McGraw-Hill; 2006, 420 p.
- 5. Dossey L. Reinventing Medicine. New York: HarperCollins Publishers, Inc.; 1999, 271 p.
- 6. Guimaraes GV, Ciolac EG, Carvalho VO, D'Avila VM, Bortolotto LA, Bocchi EA. Effects of continuous vs. interval exercise training on blood pressure and arterial stiffness in treated hypertension. Hypertens Res 33(6): 627-32, 2010.
- 7. Head GA, McGrath BP, Mihailidou AS, Nelson MR, Schlaich MP, Stowasser M, Mangoni AA, Cowley D, Brown MA, Ruta L-A, Wilson A. Ambulatory blood pressure monitoring in Australia: 2011 consensus position statement. J Hypertens 30(2): 253-66, 2012.
- 8. Hoyert DL, Xu J. *Deaths: Preliminary Data for 2011*: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, DoV Statistics; 2012. 6 p. Available from: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- 9. Kessler HS, Sisson SB, Short KR. The potential for high-intensity interval training to reduce cardiometabolic disease risk. Sports Med 42(6): 489-509, 2012.
- 10. Lamina S. Effects of continuous and interval training programs in the management of hypertension: a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich) 12(11): 841-9, 2010.
- 11. Lehman KA, Burns MN, Gagen EC, Mohr DC. Development of the brief inventory of perceived stress. J Clin Psychol 68(6): 631-44, 2012.
- 12. Lewington S, Clarke R, Qizilbash N, Peto R, Collins R. Age-specific relevance of usual blood pressure to vascular mortality: a meta-analysis of individual data for one million adults in 61 prospective studies. Lancet 360(9349): 1903-13, 2002.
- 13. Lockhart BD. *CardioWaves: Interval Training for Mindbody Wellness*. New York: Digital Legend Press & Publishing; 2011, 128 p.

- 14. Lockhart BD, Rencher AC. Worth index. Percept Mot Skills 85(3): 827-34, 1997.
- 15. Molmen-Hansen HE, Stolen T, Tjonna AE, Aamot IL, Ekeberg IS, Tyldum GA, Wisloff U, Ingul CB, Stoylen A. Aerobic interval training reduces blood pressure and improves myocardial function in hypertensive patients. Eur J Prev Cardiol 19(2): 151-60, 2012.
- 16. Munk PS, Staal EM, Butt N, Isaksen K, Larsen AI. High-intensity interval training may reduce in-stent restensis following percutaneous coronary intervention with stent implantation: a randomized controlled trial evaluating the relationship to endothelial function and inflammation. Am Heart J 158(5): 734-41, 2009.
- 17. Nauman J, Janszky I, Vatten LJ, Wisloff U. Temporal changes in resting heart rate and deaths from ischemic heart disease. JAMA 306(23): 2579-87, 2011.
- 18. Nybo L, Sundstrup E, Jakobsen MD, Mohr M, Hornstrup T, Simonsen L, Bulow J, Randers MB, Nielsen JJ, Aagaard P, Krustrup P. High-intensity training versus traditional exercise interventions for promoting health. Med Sci Sports Exerc 42(10): 1951-8, 2010.
- 19. Palatini P, Julius S. Elevated heart rate: a major risk factor for cardiovascular disease. Clin Exp Hypertens 26(7-8): 637-44, 2004.
- 20. Pescatello LS, Franklin BA, Fagard R, Farquhar WB, Kelley GA, Ray CA. Exercise and hypertension. Med Sci Sports Exerc 36(3): 533-53, 2004.
- 21. Peterman AH, Fitchett G, Brady MJ, Hernandez L, Cella D. Measuring spiritual well-being in people with cancer: the functional assessment of chronic illness therapy--spiritual well-being scale (FACIT-Sp). Ann Behav Med 24(1): 49-58, 2002.
- 22. Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee. 2008 Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 2008. Available from: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- 23. Pickering TG, Miller NH, Ogedegbe G, Krakoff LR, Artinian NT, Goff D. Call to action on use and reimbursement for home blood pressure monitoring: a joint scientific statement from the American Heart Association, American Society of Hypertension, and Preventive Cardiovascular Nurses Association. J Cardiovasc Nurs 23(4): 299-323, 2008.
- 24. Rognmo O, Hetland E, Helgerud J, Hoff J, Slordahl SA. High-intensity aerobic interval exercise is superior to moderate-intensity exercise for increasing aerobic capacity in patients with coronary artery disease. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil 11(3): 216-22, 2004.
- 25. Schjerve IE, Tyldum GA, Tjonna AE, Stolen T, Loennechen JP, Hansen HEM, Haram PM, Heinrich G, Bye A, Najjar SM, Smith GL, Slordahl SA, Kemi OJ, Wisloff U. Both aerobic endurance and strength training programmes improve cardiovascular health in obese adults. Clin Sci 115(9): 283-93, 2008.

- 26. Swain DP, Leutholtz BC. Heart rate reserve is equivalent to percent VO2reserve, not to percent VO2max. Med Sci Sports Exerc 29(3): 410-4, 1997.
- 27. Tjonna AE, Lee SJ, Rognmo O, Stolen TO, Bye A, Haram PM, Loennechen JP, Al-Share QY, Skogvoll E, Slordahl SA, Kemi OJ, Najjar SM, Wisloff U. Aerobic interval training versus continuous moderate exercise as a treatment for the metabolic syndrome: a pilot study. Circulation 118(4): 346-54, 2008.
- 28. Tjonna AE, Stolen TO, Bye A, Volden M, Slordahl SA, Odegard R, Skogvoll E, Wisloff U. Aerobic interval training reduces cardiovascular risk factors more than a multitreatment approach in overweight adolescents. Clin Sci 116(4): 317-26, 2009.
- 29. Tucker JM, Welk GJ, Beyler NK. Physical activity in U.S. adults: compliance with the Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans. Am J Prev Med 40(4): 454-61, 2011.
- 30. Wallman K, Plant LA, Rakimov B, Maiorana AJ. The effects of two modes of exercise on aerobic fitness and fat mass in an overweight population. Res Sports Med 17(3): 156-70, 2009.
- 31. Warburton DER, McKenzie DC, Haykowsky MJ, Taylor A, Shoemaker P, Ignaszewski AP, Chan SY. Effectiveness of high-intensity interval training for the rehabilitation of patients with coronary artery disease. Am J Cardiol 95(9): 1080-4, 2005.
- 32. Whyte LJ, Gill JMR, Cathcart AJ. Effect of 2 weeks of sprint interval training on health-related outcomes in sedentary overweight/obese men. Metabolism 59(10): 1421-8, 2010.
- 33. Wisloff U, Stoylen A, Loennechen JP, Bruvold M, Rognmo O, Haram PM, Tjonna AE, Helgerud J, Slordahl SA, Lee SJ, Videm V, Bye A, Smith GL, Najjar SM, Ellingsen O, Skjaerpe T. Superior cardiovascular effect of aerobic interval training versus moderate continuous training in heart failure patients: a randomized study. Circulation 115(24): 3086-94, 2007.

Table 1: Participant Demographics

Variables	All participants (n=52)	Males (n=36)	Females (n=16)
Age (y)	38.94±10.51	37.06±9.51	43.19±11.70
Body mass (kg)	84.69±16.26	89.77±14.66	73.56±14.20
BMI (kg/m^2)	27.28±4.41	27.22±4.01	27.43±5.36

Results are described as mean±standard deviation

Table 2: Baseline Resting Blood Pressure (mmHg) and Resting Heart Rate (bpm)

Variables	IT group	CT group	F	p
Awake SBP	120.96±1.86	119.50±1.94	0.30	0.59
Asleep SBP	108.04±2.70	103.50±2.76	1.38	0.25
Total SBP	119.19±1.82	117.92±1.89	0.24	0.63
Awake DBP	74.19±1.28	73.13±1.33	0.34	0.57
Asleep DBP	62.60±1.66	61.67±1.69	0.15	0.70
Total DBP	72.50±1.34	71.88±1.40	0.10	0.75
Awake HR	70.54±2.06	69.96±2.15	0.04	0.85
Asleep HR	61.56±2.11	59.25±2.15	0.59	0.45
Total HR	69.46±2.03	68.71±2.11	0.07	0.80

 $Results \ are \ analyzed \ from \ pre \ SBP/DBP \ measurements \ from \ ambulatory \ blood \ pressure \ devices \ (ABPDs)$

No significant difference (p<0.05)

Table 3: Distribution of Participants According to Baseline Resting Blood Pressure

	IT group		CT group	
	(n=25)		(n=22)	
	Males	Females	Males	Females
	(n=17)	(n=8)	(n=15)	(n=7)
Hypertensive BP	0	0	1	0
Pre-hypertensive BP	10	3	6	3
Normotensive BP	7	5	8	4

Results are analyzed from pre total SBP/total DBP measurements from ambulatory blood pressure devices (ABPDs)

Hypertensive BP=blood pressure >140/90 mmHg

Pre-hypertensive BP=blood pressure 120-139/80-89 mmHg

Normotensive BP=blood pressure <120/80 mmHg

Table 4: Change in Resting Blood Pressure (mmHg) by Group

Variables	IT group	CT group
Awake SBP	-0.31±1.59	-4.37±1.64
	(p=0.85)	(p=0.01)*
Asleep SBP	-2.22±2.19	-2.12±2.15
	(p=0.32)	(p=0.33)
Total SBP	-0.28±1.61	-4.24±1.66
	(p=0.86)	(p=0.01)*
Awake DBP	0.44 ± 1.10	-2.07±1.18
	(p=0.69)	(p=0.09)
Asleep DBP	0.85 ± 1.73	-0.44±1.71
	(p=0.63)	(p=0.80)
Total DBP	0.78 ± 1.17	-1.86±1.25
	(p=0.51)	(p=0.14)

Results are analyzed from pre and post SBP/DBP measurements from ambulatory blood pressure devices (ABPDs)

^{*}Significant at p<0.05

Table 5: Change in Resting Blood Pressure (mmHg) by Gender

Variables	Males	Females
Awake SBP	2.00±1.36	-6.68±2.06
	(p=0.15)	(p=0.002)*
Asleep SBP	3.08±1.74	-7.41±2.80
	(p=0.09)	(p=0.01)*
Total SBP	1.99±1.37	-6.51±2.07
	(p=0.15)	(p=0.003)*
Awake DBP	1.75±0.95	-3.38±1.42
	(p=0.07)	(p=0.02)*
Asleep DBP	2.53±1.40	-2.12±2.20
	(p=0.08)	(p=0.34)
Total DBP	2.02±1.01	-3.10±1.51
	(p=0.05)*	(p=0.05)*

Results are analyzed from pre and post SBP/DBP measurements from ambulatory blood pressure devices (ABPDs)

^{*}Significant at p<0.05

Table 6: Change in Resting Heart Rate (bpm) by Group

Variables	IT group	CT group
Awake HR	1.54±1.13	-0.02±1.20
	(p=0.18)	(p=0.98)
Asleep HR	-0.31±1.16	0.58±1.16
	(p=0.79)	(p=0.62)
Total HR	1.03±1.09	0.05±1.16
	(p=0.35)	(p=0.96)

Results are analyzed from pre and post SBP/DBP measurements from ambulatory blood pressure devices (ABPDs)

No significant change (p<0.05)

Table 7: Change in Mind-Body Wellness Surveys by Group

Variables	IT group	CT group
Stress	-2.19±0.65	-0.99±0.68
	(p=0.002)*	(p=0.15)
Spiritual well-being	2.52±1.37	4.23±1.44
	(p=0.07)	(p=0.005)*
Worth Index:		
Basic human worth	1.30 ± 0.90	0.42 ± 0.94
	(p=0.16)	(p=0.66)
Personal security	1.21±0.55	0.32 ± 0.57
	(p=0.03)*	(p=0.57)
Performance	1.03±0.61	2.01±0.64
	(p=0.10)	(p=0.003)*
Appearance	0.93 ± 0.83	2.23±0.87
	(p=0.27)	(p=0.01)*

^{*}Significant at p<0.05